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State of Nevada vs. APARICIO, HENRY §
§
§
§
§

Case Type: Felony
Subtype: DUI Case

Date Filed: 05/21/2018
Location: JC Department 13

Party Information

Lead Attorneys
Defendant APARICIO, HENRY Damian Sheets

Retained
702-598-1299(W)

State of 
Nevada

State of Nevada

Charge Information

Charges: APARICIO, HENRY Statute Level Date 
1.   DUI of alcohol and/or controlled or prohibited substance, resulting 

in death [53908]
484C.430 Felony 05/16/2018

2.   DUI of alcohol and/or controlled or prohibited substance, resulting 
in death [53908]

484C.430 Felony 05/16/2018

3.   Reckless driving, r/DoSBH [53896] 484B.653.6 Felony 05/16/2018
4.   Reckless driving, r/DoSBH [53896] 484B.653.6 Felony 05/16/2018
5.   Reckless driving, r/DoSBH [53896] 484B.653.6 Felony 05/16/2018
6.   DUI of alcohol and/or controlled or prohibited substance, result in 

substantial bodily harm [53906]
484C.430 Felony 05/16/2018

Events & Orders of the Court

DISPOSITIONS

06/04/2018 Disposition (Judicial Officer: Baucum, Suzan)
1. DUI of alcohol and/or controlled or prohibited substance, resulting in death [53908]

Bound Over to District Court as Charged (PC Found)
2. DUI of alcohol and/or controlled or prohibited substance, resulting in death [53908]

Bound Over to District Court as Charged (PC Found)
6. DUI of alcohol and/or controlled or prohibited substance, result in substantial bodily harm [53906]

Bound Over to District Court as Charged (PC Found)
3. Reckless driving, r/DoSBH [53896]

Bound Over to District Court as Charged (PC Found)
4. Reckless driving, r/DoSBH [53896]

Bound Over to District Court as Charged (PC Found)
5. Reckless driving, r/DoSBH [53896]

Bound Over to District Court as Charged (PC Found)

OTHER EVENTS AND HEARINGS

05/16/2018 Bail Set - No Bail
Ct1: $0 Cash/$0 Surety Set in Court

05/16/2018 CTRACK Track Assignment JC11
05/16/2018 Bail Set - No Bail

Ct2: $0 Cash/$0 Surety Set in Court
05/16/2018 Bail Set - No Bail

Ct3: $0 Cash/$0 Surety Set in Court
05/16/2018 Standard Bail Set

Ct4: $5000 Cash/$5000 Surety
05/16/2018 Standard Bail Set

Ct5: $5000 Cash/$5000 Surety
05/16/2018 Standard Bail Set

Ct6: $5000 Cash/$5000 Surety
05/16/2018 Nevada Risk Assessment Tool
05/16/2018 Not Released NPR
05/16/2018 Arrest Report
05/16/2018 CTRACK Case Modified

Judge/BAS;
05/16/2018 CTRACK Case Modified

Jurisdiction/DA;
05/17/2018 Initial Appearance Justice Court (PC Review)  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Baucum, Suzan) 

05/17/2018 Reset by Court to 05/17/2018

Result: Signing Completed
05/17/2018 Probable Cause Review Packet - Initial Appearance Court
05/17/2018 Media Request for Electronic Coverage

of Court proceedings received and filed
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05/17/2018 Order Regarding Media Request for Electronic Coverage Filed
Kristen DeSilva of Fox 5 KVVU

05/17/2018 Probable Cause Found
05/17/2018 Bail Reset - Cash or Surety

Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006 - $0.00/$0.00 Total Bail
05/17/2018 Minute Order - Department 13
05/18/2018 72 Hour Hearing  (7:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Baucum, Suzan) 

In Custody
Result: Matter Heard

05/18/2018 72-Hour Hearing Completed
05/18/2018 Counsel Confirms as Attorney of Record

D. Sheets, Esq.
05/18/2018 Motion to Continue - State

for 5 days - Objection by Defense - Motion Granted
05/18/2018 Motion by Defense for an O.R. Release

Objection by State - Motion Denied
05/18/2018 Oral Motion

by State for $500,000 / $500,000 Total Bail with House Arrest and Alcohol Monitoring - Objection by Defense - Motion Granted
05/18/2018 Bail Reset - Cash or Surety

Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006 - $500,000.00/$500,000.00 Total Bail
05/18/2018 Release Order - Court Ordered Bail AND House Arrest

Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006
05/18/2018 Bail Condition - SCRAM

Defendant to be released to Bail and House Arrest and SCRAM
05/18/2018 Defendant Identified as a Veteran
05/18/2018 Side Bar Conference Held
05/18/2018 Continued for Status Check on filing of Criminal Complaint
05/18/2018 Minute Order - Department 13
05/21/2018 CANCELED Status Check on Filing of Criminal Complaint  (7:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Baucum, Suzan) 

Criminal Complaint Filed
In Custody

05/21/2018 Initial Appearance  (7:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Baucum, Suzan) 
In Custody

Result: Matter Heard
05/21/2018 Criminal Complaint

Filed in open Court
05/21/2018 Initial Appearance Completed

Advised of Charges on Criminal Complaint, Waives Reading of Criminal Complaint
05/21/2018 Discovery Given to Counsel in Open Court
05/21/2018 Plea of Not Guilty Entered
05/21/2018 Oral Motion

by Defense to Reduce Bail - Objection by State - Motion Denied
05/21/2018 Bail Stands - Cash or Surety

Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006 - $500,000.00/$500,000.00 Total Bail
05/21/2018 Release Order - Court Ordered Bail AND House Arrest

Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006
05/21/2018 Bail Condition - SCRAM

Defendant to be released to Bail and House Arrest and SCRAM
05/21/2018 Minute Order - Department 13
05/23/2018 Media Request for Electronic Coverage

of Court proceedings received and filed
05/23/2018 Order Regarding Media Request for Electronic Coverage Filed
05/24/2018 CANCELED Status Check on Filing of Criminal Complaint  (7:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Baucum, Suzan) 

Vacated
In Custody

05/24/2018 Motion for Disclosure of Non-Public Information
FOX 5-KVVU

05/24/2018 Motion for Disclosure of Non-Public Information
Las Vegas Review-Journal

05/24/2018 Motion for Disclosure of Non-Public Information
KTNV

05/24/2018 Motion for Disclosure of Non-Public Information
Las Vegas Sun

05/24/2018 Motion for Disclosure of Non-Public Information
KLAS-TV

05/24/2018 Redacted paperwork approved by Judge
05/24/2018 Miscellaneous Filing

Legal-Review Form
05/25/2018 Motion for Disclosure of Non-Public Information

KSNV
05/29/2018 Media Request for Electronic Coverage

of Court proceedings received and filed
05/29/2018 Order Regarding Media Request for Electronic Coverage Filed

Larry Ish of KTNV
06/04/2018 Preliminary Hearing  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Baucum, Suzan) 

In Custody
Result: Matter Heard

06/04/2018 Preliminary Hearing Held
Motion to Exclude Witnesses by Defense - Motion Granted States Witnesses: 1. Brandon MacAuley - Identifies Defendant 2. Keith Richard Sonetti 
- Identifies Defendant 3. Jeisel Antonio Morales 4. Kaitlynn Garduno 5. Matthew Ware - Identifies Defendant 6. Corey Staheli 7. Khadija Deliei 8. 
Edward Aaron Contreras, Jr. 9. Kenneth Salisbury 10. Karl Atkinson State Rests. Defendant Advised of His Statutory Right to call witnesses, 
present evidence and/or to testify on his own behalf. Defendant understands his rights and following the advice of his defense counsel, waives his 
rights at preliminary hearing. Defense Rests. Motion to Dismiss by Defense - Argument Against Said Motion by State - Motion Denied

06/04/2018 Bound Over to District Court as Charged
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06/04/2018 District Court Appearance Date Set
Jun 6 2018 10:00AM: In Custody

06/04/2018 Bail Stands - Cash or Surety
Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006 - $500,000.00/$500,000.00 Total Bail

06/04/2018 Release Order - Court Ordered Bail AND House Arrest
Counts: 001; 002; 003; 004; 005; 006

06/04/2018 Bail Condition - SCRAM
Defendant to be released to Bail and House Arrest and SCRAM

06/04/2018 Case Closed - Bound Over
06/04/2018 Minute Order - Department 13
06/04/2018 Certificate, Bindover and Order to Appear
06/06/2018 Bind Over Receipt
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MOT 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Damian Sheets, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 13825 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 598-1299 
Facsimile: (702) 598-1266 
dsheets@defendingnevada.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
Henry Aparicio 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

State of Nevada, 
            Plaintiff 
 
vs. 
 
Henry Aparicio, 
            Defendant 
  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-18-332496-1 
Dept. No: VIII 
 
DEFENDANT’S MOTION IN LIMINE TO 
EXCLUDE EVIDENCE OF RETROGRADE 
EXTRAPOLATION 

 

COMES NOW, Defendant Henry Aparicio, by and through his attorney of record, 

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. of the firm Mayfield Gruber & Sheets, hereby submits this 

Defendant’s Motion in Limine to Exclude Evidence of Retrograde Extrapolation. 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

Case Number: C-18-332496-1

Electronically Filed
7/5/2018 2:22 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF HEARING 
 
TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 
 
TO: DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY: 
 
YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the 

above and foregoing motion on for hearing on the _____ day of _______________________, 2018, at 

the hour of ______, before the above-entitled Court, or as soon thereafter as counsel can be 

heard. 

 
 
 
DATED this 5 day of July, 2018. 
 
 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
 
___/s/ Damian Sheets_____ 
DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. 
Attorney for Defendant 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16th               July 
8am
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 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
 Defendant Henry Aparicio is charged with Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol 

Resulting in Death, as well as a litany of similar lesser included offenses. He pled Not Guilty 

to the charges on or about June 6, 2018 and invoked his right to a speedy trial. Calendar 

Call is currently scheduled for August 8, 2018, with trial on August 13, 2018.  

 On or about June 27, 2018 the State filed a Supplemental Notice of Witness and/or 

Expert Witness List, and added Mr. Raymond C. Kelly as an expert to testify on many topics, 

including retrograde extrapolation. As part of its discovery disclosures, the State also 

provided a report by Dr. Kelly that attempts to use retrograde extrapolation to establish 

Mr. Aparicio’s blood alcohol content at the time of the accident (two blood samples were 

taken, however they are both outside of two hours).  

 The law is clear that retrograde extrapolation is not appropriate in this case. The 

landmark Nevada case on point, State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. 927, 936, 267 P.3d 

777, 783 (2011), held that retrograde extrapolation is not admissible unless the calculation 

takes into account the following factors: 

We agree that achieving a reliable retrograde extrapolation calculation 
requires consideration of a variety of factors. The following factors are 
relevant to achieving a sufficiently reliable retrograde extrapolation 
calculation: (1) gender, (2) weight, (3) age, (4) height, (5) mental state, 
(6) the type and amount of food in the stomach, (7) type and amount of 
alcohol consumed, (8) when the last alcoholic drink was consumed, (9) 
drinking pattern at the relevant time, (10) elapsed time between the 
first and last drink consumed, (11) time elapsed between the last drink 
consumed and the blood draw, (12) the number of samples taken, (13) 
the length of  time between the offense and the blood draws, (14) the 
average alcohol absorption rate, and (15) the average elimination rate. 
We observe, as the Mata court did, that not every personal fact about 
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the defendant must be known to construct a reliable extrapolation, 46 
S.W.3d at 916-17, but rather those factors must be balanced. Id. 

 
 In this case, the State’s “expert” in retrograde extrapolation relied on “Mr. Aparicio’s 

body weight and gender” plus his two BAC test results taken outside of two hours. The 

result took into consideration only two of the fifteen factors articulated by the Nevada 

Supreme Court. Even presumably fixed values, such as “the average elimination rate” 

(factor number 15) was not used, as the report uses an improper linear elimination rate 

from guidelines published in 1994 for use in extrapolation from single-same cases;1 not 

only are virtually none of the individual factors taken into consideration, which is 

“required” per Armstrong, but even the known variables are derived from extremely 

outdated sources.  

Furthermore, it does not take an expert to realize the serious flaw in Dr. Kelly’s 

ultimate result. In addition to using an improper linear elimination model, the rate of 

dissipation was calculated not by using fixed and known values, but actually Mr. Aparicio’s 

two existing BAC measurements;2 Dr. Kelly simply took the two existing inadmissible BAC 

results, calculated the difference between those two values, and used that to extrapolate 

into a BAC value which purportedly reflects Mr. Aparicio’s BAC at the time of the accident. 

This is, from a scientific perspective, nonsensical. 

                       

1 Gullberg, RG, and Jones, AW, “Guidelines for estimating the amount of alcohol consumed from a single 
measurement of blood alcohol concentration: re-evaluation of Widmark’s equation,” Forensic Sci. Int’l, 69: 
119-130, 1994. 
2 In his report, Mr. Kelly writes, “In making the calculation, I utilized the alcohol metabolic rate derived from 
the difference between his two measured BAC values obtained one hour apart.” He then concedes that the 
difference between these two values, which formed the basis for his extrapolated result, is actually almost 
double the “mean value for males in the population” that would typically be used.  
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Mr. Aparicio’s two BAC results, which reflect a specific dissipation rate for that hour 

only, cannot be used as a basis for linear extrapolation of the entire period of alcoholic 

consumption. For example, if Mr. Aparicio had two different drinks with varying alcohol 

contents or drank more than exactly one drink per hour, a linear regression model 

(without taking into account any of the factors articulated in Armstrong) is fundamentally 

unreliable.  

Not only is it unreliable, it is precisely why the Armstrong case exists – a linear 

regression model does not work because of the sheer number of variables, fifteen at a 

minimum, that would affect the ultimate result. Of those fifteen listed by the Supreme 

Court, only Mr. Aparicio’s body weight and gender were taken into consideration. That is 

insufficient as a matter of law, and therefore the Defense respectfully requests this Court 

preclude any reference to or results of retrograde extrapolation in this case.  

 
DATED this 5 day of July, 2018. 

By: 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
       

By: __/s/ Damian Sheets___ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 5 day of July, 2018 I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing Defendant’s Motion in Limine, upon each of the parties by electronic service 

through Wiznet, the Eighth Judicial District Court’s e-filing/e-service system, pursuant to 

N.E.F.C.R.9; and by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in the United States 

mail, Postage Pre-Paid, addressed as follows: 

 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office  
200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89155 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

 

 

     /s/___Kelsey Bernstein_________                                                   
     An Employee of Mayfield Gruber & Sheets 
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MOT 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Damian Sheets, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 13825 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 598-1299 
Facsimile: (702) 598-1266 
dsheets@defendingnevada.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
Henry Aparicio 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

State of Nevada, 
            Plaintiff 
 
vs. 
 
Henry Aparicio, 
            Defendant 
  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-18-332496-1 
Dept. No: VIII 
 
MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION AND 
AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT 

 

COMES NOW, Defendant Henry Aparicio, by and through his attorney of record, 

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. of the firm Mayfield Gruber & Sheets, hereby submits this Motion 

for Disqualification and Affidavit in Support. 

Pursuant to NRS 1.235(5)(a), upon the filing of the instant Motion and Affidavit, 

Defendant respectfully requests this Court “immediately transfer the case to another 

department of the court, if there is more than one department of the court in the district, or 

request the judge of another district court to preside at the trial or hearing of the matter.” 

/// 
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CLERK OF THE COURT
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 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

Following a full and contested preliminary hearing in the Las Vegas Justice Court, 

Defendant Henry Aparicio was bound over to the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 

8, to answer for the charges of Driving Under the Influence Resulting in Death (and other 

lesser included offenses). The Information was filed on June 5, 2018. 

On July 5, 2018, Defense filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude Evidence of Retrograde 

Extrapolation. In this case, Mr. Aparicio’s blood draw occurred outside of two hours, and 

the State provided, through discovery, an expert retrograde extrapolation report. The 

Motion to Exclude this report argued that the State’s expert improperly used a linear 

retrogression model, taking into account only “Mr. Aparicio’s body weight and gender” to 

reach its conclusion, i.e. the extrapolated blood alcohol content measurement. Defense 

argued this conclusion was reached in direct violation of the Nevada Supreme Court’s 

holding in State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. 927, 936, 267 P.3d 777, 783 (2011), which 

articulated no less than fifteen distinct factors to consider before an extrapolation can be 

scientifically and legally reliable. In response, the State argued that Armstrong is not 

applicable to this case because more than one blood draw was obtained. The State also 

presented additional information regarding what Mr. Aparicio ate and drank, but this 

information was only recently disclosed and not used by the expert in reaching the 

extrapolation result. The Court denied the Motion, ruling that it was “perfectly reasonable” 

to conduct a retrograde extrapolation using the information presented. Additionally, in 

reaching its conclusion, the Court made several statements that were immediately 
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concerning. Specifically, the Court stated “And he was doing over a 100 miles an hour, 

killed two people.”  

Shortly thereafter, on July 20, 2018, Defense filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas 

Corpus challenging the probable cause at the preliminary hearing. Specifically, although 

approximately 15-20 people witnessed the auto collision, not a single person could identify 

Mr. Aparicio as the driver. Another female was also present in the vehicle; she was found 

unconscious on the passenger seat, but testimony during the preliminary hearing revealed 

that she was not wearing a seatbelt and there was also damage to the windshield. The 

Court denied the Petition, claiming that Mr. Aparicio’s presence on the curb outside of the 

vehicle following the accident was sufficient probable cause that he was the driver of the 

vehicle; notably, the State conceded immediately after this ruling that Mr. Aparicio’s mere 

presence alone would actually not be sufficient probable cause. 

Given that the Court had previously ruled the State’s expert report on retrograde 

extrapolation was permissible despite relying on only two of the fifteen required 

Armstrong factors, Defense thereafter submitted an ex parte request for investigative fees 

for the Defense to hire a rebuttal expert or investigator, attaching financial disclosures to 

support a finding of indigency. The Court summarily denied the request in chambers. 

Specifically, the Order states: 

 
THE COURT HEREBY FINDS, pursuant to the Ex Parte Motion, that 
Defendant provided a total monthly income in the amount of $1,084, 
total monthly debts in the amount of $1,515, and total assets in the 
amount of $400, 
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THE COURT HEREBY ORDERS Defendant’s Ex Parte Motion for 
Authorization of Employment of Investigator and Payment of Fees is 
DENIED for an insufficient showing of indigency. 

 
 Without the availability to funds to hire an investigator or expert witnesses, Defense 

Counsel ran into extreme difficulty findings experts willing to participate with such limited 

available funding. Therefore, the Defense was forced to file a Motion to Continue the Trial 

Date. The Motion was granted, and Calendar Call is currently set in this matter on July 31, 

2019; jury trial is scheduled to begin on August 5, 2019.  

 
II. PROCEDURE FOR DISQUALIFICATION 

 
 

The grounds to request disqualification of a judge other than a Supreme Court 

Justice or Judge on the Court of Appeals is set forth in NRS 1.230-.235; NRS 1.230(1) states: 

“A judge shall not act in such an action or proceeding when the judge entertains actual bias 

or prejudice for or against one of the parties to the action.” It is on this basis that the instant 

Motion for Disqualification is sought. 

Procedurally, the party seeking disqualification must file an Affidavit specifying the 

facts upon which disqualification is sought and serve the documents upon the judge sought 

to be disqualified. Pursuant to NRS 1.235(1)(a), the request must be filed not less than 20 

days before the date set for trial or hearing of the case. Trial in this matter is set for August 

5, 2019, and therefore the instant Motion is timely.  
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III. STANDARD FOR DISQUALIFICATION 
 
 

“Quite simply and quite universally, recusal was required whenever impartiality 

might reasonably be questioned.” Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 548, 114 S. Ct. 1147, 

1154 (1994). “[A defendant] is entitled to a neutral and detached judge in the first 

instance.” Matter of Ross, 99 Nev. 1, 13, 656 P.2d 832, 839 (1983); see also, Ward v. Vill. Of 

Monroeville, Ohio, 409 U.S. 57, 59, 93 S.Ct. 80, 82 (1972). The concept of a neutral and 

unbiased decisionmaker has been a cornerstone of American law since its inception. 

Comments made by the Court which show bias, prejudice or any similar concept of 

pre-disposition which call into question the neutrality of a trial may be grounds for 

reversal. Holderer v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 114 Nev. 845, 963 P.2d 459 (1998). In Rudin v. 

State, 120 Nev. 121, 86 P.3d 572 (2004), the Nevada Supreme Court also held that 

comments which “reflect any animus” towards one party are problematic. See also, Leonard 

v. State, 114 Nev. 1196, 1211, 969 P.2d 288, 298 (1998) (“While the court may have 

displayed some irritation with defense counsel, the clear intent of its remarks was to save 

time; it was not directing animus towards defense counsel”). 

Statements which “express an opinion as to the merits or the outcome of any 

ongoing proceedings” is similarly problematic. Goldman v. Bryan, 104 Nev. 644, 651, 764 

P.2d 1296, 1300 (1988). “Remarks of a judge made in the context of a court proceeding are 

not considered indicative of improper bias or prejudice unless they show that the judge has 

closed his or her mind to the presentation of all the evidence.” Cameron v. State, 114 Nev. 

1281, 1282, 968 P.2d 1169, 1170 (1998). A judge must remain “open-minded enough to 
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refrain from finally deciding a case until all of the evidence has been presented” in order to 

remain impartial. Id. at 1283.  

To support disqualification, the moving party must point to facts in the record “to 

suggest that the district court’s decision was colored by bias or a lack of impartiality.” 

Rudin, 120 Nev. at 142. Particular attention will be paid when improvident conduct by the 

district court judge would prejudice the litigant’s rights to a fair trial. Parodi v. Washoe Med 

Ctr., Inc., 111 Nev. 365, 366, 892 P.2d 588, 589 (1995). In Parodi, the Nevada Supreme 

Court found error because “the totality of the conduct may have a prejudicial effect on the 

jury’s view” of the case. Id. at 369. See also, Leonard v. State, 114 Nev. 1196, 1213 (1998).  

 
IV. GROUNDS FOR DISQUALIFICATION IN THIS CASE 

 
 

With all due respect, Defense believes there are sufficient grounds on the record in 

this case to question the impartiality of the District Court, and therefore Defense requests 

reassignment to a new department. The grounds will be presented chronologically, and 

represent both a combination of the formal rulings made as well as the statements by the 

Court, while on the record, in Mr. Aparicio’s matter. 

 
1. Motion in Limine to Exclude Retrograde Extrapolation 

 
 

On this issue, the Court ignored Nevada Supreme Court precedent to allow the 

admission of an expert conclusion based on information, disclosed after the fact, that was 

not known to or considered by the expert when performing the retrograde extrapolation. 
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Summarily, the expert’s extrapolation result was ruled admissible based on information 

that the expert did not ever have access to when calculating that result. 

Generally speaking, retrograde extrapolation is a mathematical process that uses 

blood alcohol results taken outside of two hours to “guess” or “extrapolate” what the blood 

alcohol results would have been had they been taken within the two hour window. 

However, the process for reverse engineering a person’s blood alcohol content for a 

criminal matter is not a simple task, as the results depend on the person’s gender, height, 

weight, age, what they drank, when they drank, what they ate, when they ate, how much 

time had elapsed, etc.  

This basic premise is reflected in the Nevada Supreme Court’s holding in State v. 

Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. 927, 936, 267 P.3d 777, 783 (2011), wherein the Court held 

that retrograde extrapolation is not admissible unless the calculation takes into account 

the following factors: 

We agree that achieving a reliable retrograde extrapolation calculation 
requires consideration of a variety of factors. The following factors are 
relevant to achieving a sufficiently reliable retrograde extrapolation 
calculation: (1) gender, (2) weight, (3) age, (4) height, (5) mental state, 
(6) the type and amount of food in the stomach, (7) type and amount of 
alcohol consumed, (8) when the last alcoholic drink was consumed, (9) 
drinking pattern at the relevant time, (10) elapsed time between the 
first and last drink consumed, (11) time elapsed between the last drink 
consumed and the blood draw, (12) the number of samples taken, (13) 
the length of  time between the offense and the blood draws, (14) the 
average alcohol absorption rate, and (15) the average elimination rate. 
We observe, as the Mata court did, that not every personal fact about 
the defendant must be known to construct a reliable extrapolation, 46 
S.W.3d at 916-17, but rather those factors must be balanced. Id. 

 
In this case, the extrapolation result reached by the State’s expert only took into 

account Mr. Aparicio’s body weight and gender, using a linear model which actually 
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excluded consideration of all of the above-listed factors. In fact, per the State’s report, the 

expert used a linear rate that was published over 25 years ago to reach its conclusion. 

In response to the Defense Motion, the State argued that it was now in possession of 

receipts which purportedly showed what Mr. Aparicio ate and drank the night of the 

accident. However, this information gathered after the expert reached the extrapolation 

result utilizes multiple assumptions – for example, assuming that Mr. Aparicio drank the 

purchased beverages instead of his partner, and assuming that he consumed the entirety of 

menu items purchased instead of partial portions. Additionally, this information is entirely 

irrelevant to the reliability of the underlying extrapolation result because the expert did not 

have this information when calculating the extrapolated blood alcohol result. The Court ruled 

that information now possessed by the State, yet was never provided to the expert, 

somehow makes the expert’s conclusion more reliable as a matter of law. It is the Defense’s 

position that it is arbitrary and capricious to rule that the expert’s conclusion, which by 

itself failed to abide by the requirements in Armstrong, is more reliable based on 

subsequent information that was not provided to that expert.  

In conjunction with the Court’s ruling, statements made on the record are also 

gravely concerning to the Defense with respect to Mr. Aparicio’s ability to receive a fair 

trial. Specifically, the Court stated on the record that Mr. Aparicio killed two people. The crux 

of this entire case is identity – Mr. Aparicio never said he was the driver, none of the 15+ 

witnesses could place him behind the wheel, and another individual was also present in the 

vehicle during the collision. The Court’s statement that Mr. Aparicio was not only driving 

but had killed two people is a clear pre-disposition before the close of evidence in this case.  
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After making this statement, the Court held that it was going to deny the Motion to 

Exclude because “retrograde extrapolation is extremely reasonable in this particular case.” 

The Court failed to articulate how the extrapolation survives analysis under Armstrong and 

failed to address the Defense arguments entirely before making its ruling. After the fact, 

Defense tried to create a record as to the basis for the denial, and the Court continually cut 

off Counsel’s arguments: 

 
MR. SHEETS: … just so the record is clear, I think our position was that 
the report didn’t indicate that he had used any of the facts that we’re 
talking about [the receipts], the time he had drank, what he had eaten. I 
don’t think the expert’s report – 
 
THE COURT: Thank you. 
 
MR. SHEETS: And that was kind of our biggest thing and it didn’t – 
 
THE COURT: All right (Transcripts, July 23, 2018, 4: 1). 

 
 

2. Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus 
 

Defense would also strongly encourage this Court to view the JAVs recordings for 

July 23, 2018 and August 8, 2018. The general demeanor, tone and facial expressions of the 

District Court during these hearings is also significant in this case. For example, this Court 

should review the hearing on July 23, 2018 to see firsthand the District Court’s demeanor 

when the Court stated that Mr. Aparicio killed two people, and then also when the Court 

learned that Defense had filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus to challenge the 

probable cause finding at Mr. Aparicio’s preliminary hearing. Specifically, the Court audibly 

scoffed at the notion that the Defense would file a Writ, creating a direct insinuation that 

the Court believed a writ would have no merit prior to one ever being filed. 
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On that note, the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus presented only one issue – 

there was no evidence presented whatsoever, let alone slight or marginal, that Mr. Aparicio 

was the driver of the vehicle. Prior to the hearing on the matter, however, the Court was 

notably disdainful towards Defense Counsel: 

MR. SHEETS: Your Honor, I can tell Your Honor that for some reason I 
didn’t receive a copy of the State’s response. I did download it when I 
got on Odyssey on Monday. 
 
THE COURT: You must have had time because you didn’t show up for 
court. 
 
MR. SHEETS: I had five separate district courts on that day so- 
 
THE COURT: I don’t care. 
 
MR. SHEETS: So, I mean, I can argue it orally or if you want my Reply 
Your Honor, or if you want – 
 
THE COURT: You can argue it (Transcripts, August 8, 2012, 2: 16). 

 
 In their response to the Habeas Petition, the State argued that Armstrong did not 

apply to this case at all because the holding was limited to single-blood draw cases only. 

Defense responded that this is an improper limitation of the Armstrong holding, but the 

Court did not consider the argument. Instead, the Court found that Mr. Aparicio’s presence 

on the curb outside of the vehicle following the accident was sufficient probable cause that 

he was the one driving the vehicle. 

MR. SHEETS: She [the other occupant] was in the passenger seat but 
there was also – 
 
THE COURT: Oh. 
 
MR. SHEETS: - a discussion about how she wasn’t a seat – how she 
wasn’t wearing a seatbelt, Your Honor, and there was damage to the 
windshield. 
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THE COURT: Please. 
 
MR. SHEETS: So there’s no evidence that would have suggested that she 
couldn’t have been ejected from that driver’s seat and into the 
passenger seat. 
… 
THE COURT: Slight even marginal evidence is all that has to be shown 
at a preliminary hearing. 
 
MR. SHEETS: Right. But there has to be slight or marginal evidence – 
 
THE COURT: There was. 
 
MR. SHEETS: - sitting next to a car I don’t believe creates the – 
 
THE COURT: Well – 
 
MR. SHEETS: - slight or marginal evidence – 
 
THE COURT: - I think you’re wrong (Transcripts, August 8, 2018, 6: 14; 
8: 11).1  

 
Additionally, Defense Counsel reiterated that, at the previous hearing on the Motion 

to Exclude the Retrograde Extrapolation, “Your Honor had mentioned at the last hearing 

that I was present at, that my client killed two people, I think for purposes of preliminary 

hearing we have to look at what was presented to that particular court. And Your Honor 

was referencing things that were not part of the preliminary hearing at that prior hearing.” 

(Transcripts, August 8, 2018, 5: 1). The Court declined to clarify or provide context to its 

                       

1 Defense Counsel will note that the State provided supplemental argument regarding probable cause after 
the District Court had made this ruling; however, since the instant Motion for Disqualification does not seek 
to readdress the merits of the District Court’s ruling except as it relates to disqualification, for purposes of 
this Motion it should be noted that the Court made this ruling prior to the State’s additional argument, and 
therefore did not take the subsequent argument into consideration. However, it is noteworthy that the State 
also conceded during their argument that mere presence alone would not be sufficient probable 
cause, which directly contradicts the District Court’s finding (9: 8). 
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earlier statement that would suggest it was anything other than a pre-disposition as to Mr. 

Aparicio’s guilt.  

 
3. Order Denying Investigative Fees 

 
 

This is perhaps the most egregious and concerning action by the District Court to 

warrant disqualification. Following the District Court’s decision to allow the State’s 

retrograde extrapolation expert, Defense Counsel filed an Ex Parte Motion for 

Authorization of Employment of Investigator and Payment of Fees. This investigation was 

necessary both for the general needs of the defense, as well as to rebut the State’s expert 

conclusion which the District Court had just permitted. 

Mr. Aparicio provided financial disclosures that listed income in the amount of 

$1,084 per month, debts in the amount of $1,515 per month, and assets in the amount of 

$400. Therefore, Mr. Aparicio presented a negative debt to income ratio, which on its face is 

sufficient to qualify for government assistance. Despite these disclosures, which were 

recognized by the Court, the Court nonetheless still denied the request for investigative 

fees based on “an insufficient showing of indigency.” Not only did the District Court just 

permit an expert opinion that was contrary to controlling precedent, but the same Court 

then excluded the Defense from employing an investigator to rebut that opinion based on a 

lack of indigency when the Court also recognized Mr. Aparicio’s negative debt to income 

ratio. 

The District Court’s ruling to deny investigative fees marked the culmination of a 

series of rulings and statements which demonstrate an arbitrary and capricious handling of 
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the case. The District Court’s statements on the record, especially when viewed through 

JAVs video, facially indicate a bias and animus against the Defendant in this case. In fact, the 

Court stated on the record that Mr. Aparicio killed two people; there are fewer ways to 

express a pre-disposition of guilt prior to the presentation of evidence. The District Court 

was also very disrespectful towards Defense Counsel, often cutting him off when trying to 

make a record of the Court’s ruling.  

The District Court’s demeanor, coupled with rulings that are both contrary to law 

and without legal foundation, have served to deprive Mr. Aparicio of a fair trial before the 

trial has even commenced. The lack of impartiality, as noted on the record through the 

transcripts and Order attached, is sufficient to warrant disqualification. The Court’s 

decision to deny the request for investigative fees directly inhibits the ability for Mr. 

Apricio to pursue a complete defense to his case, in part because Mr. Aparicio now cannot 

rebut the State’s expert which the Court had ruled was admissible.  

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 
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Therefore, under the law governing disqualification as set forth by both the United 

States Supreme Court and the Nevada Supreme Court, Defense respectfully requests this 

matter be reassigned to a new department. Additionally, Defense would request an 

opportunity to renew the Motions filed in this case before a new judge, as the rulings made 

by the District Court have a direct impact on the evidence which can be presented at trial.  

DATED this 4 day of February, 2019. 

By: 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
       

By: ___/s/ Damian Sheets_______ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF DISQUALIFICATION 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
    )ss. 
COUNTY OF CLARK ) 
 

 DAMIAN R. SHEETS, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: 

1. That I am a duly licensed attorney in good standing able to practice law in the State 
of Nevada. 

2. That I represent Henry Aparicio, the named defendant in the Eighth Judicial District 
Court, case no. C-18-332496-1. 

3. That Mr. Aparicio’s case was assigned to Department 8 of the Eighth Judicial District 
Court following a contested preliminary hearing. 

4. That on numerous occasions, the District Court has displayed an animosity and pre-
disposition towards both myself and Mr. Aparicio in this matter, to wit: 

a. By arbitrarily and capriciously ruling that the State’s expert opinion was 
legally reliable based on information subsequently disclosed that was not 
used to formulate that opinion; 

b. By prohibiting me from creating a record as to the Court’s ruling; 
c. By stating on the record that my client killed two people, thereby creating 

a pre-disposition of guilt; 
d. By making numerous statements, facial expressions, and intonations that 

strongly imply an animosity towards myself and Mr. Aparicio; 
e. By concluding that slight or marginal evidence existed that Mr. Aparicio 

was driving the vehicle only due to his presence outside the vehicle after 
the accident, although the State later conceded that “mere presence alone 
is not enough” at the same hearing; 

f. By allowing the State’s expert to testify as to retrograde extrapolation and 
thereafter denying the Defense request for investigative fees to rebut this 
expert; 

g. By finding “an insufficient showing of indigency” when Mr. Aparicio has a 
negative debt to income ratio by approximately -$400/month; 

h. By making rulings and decisions which directly inhibit Mr. Aparicio’s 
ability to pursue a full and complete defense, and thereby prejudicing his 
trial; 

i. By any and all grounds as provided above in the instant Motion. 
5. That I respectfully request this matter be reassigned to a new department in the 

Eighth Judicial District Court. 

/// 

 

/// 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
                             
                         Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
HENRY APARICIO, 
AKA HENRY BIDERMAN APARICIO,  
                             
                        Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
  CASE#:  C-18-332496-1 
 
  DEPT.  VIII       
 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS E. SMITH, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 13, 2018 

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS: 
STATUS CHECK:  TRIAL SETTING 

 

 

APPEARANCES:   

  For the State:    CHARLES S. MARTINOVSKY, ESQ. 
      Chief Deputy District Attorney 
 
 
  For the Defendant:   DANIEL F. LIPPMANN, ESQ. 
 
 
        
 
RECORDED BY:  GINA VILLANI, COURT RECORDER 

Case Number: C-18-332496-1

Electronically Filed
10/22/2018 8:59 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, June 13, 2018 

 

[Hearing began at 9:13 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  C332496, Henry Aparicio. 

  THE MARSHAL:  I called the attorney’s office.  I called both 

attorneys, left messages, the office was going to try to get ahold of them. 

  THE COURT:  Do we have -- I have an updated sheet but.   

  What’s his name? 

  THE MARSHAL:  I called Lippmann and I called Sheets. 

  THE COURT:  Lippmann, do we have Lippmann’s cell? 

  THE MARSHAL:  Yeah. 

[Colloquy between the Court and the Marshal] 

[The Court makes telephone call] 

[Hearing trailed at 9:15 a.m.] 

[Hearing recalled at 9:25 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  C332496, Henry Aparicio. 

  MR. LIPPMANN:  Aparicio. 

  THE COURT:  Aparicio.  How was that, better? 

MR. LIPPMANN:  Better. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Let me get to page 10. 

This is a status check on a trial setting.  He is in custody.  I 

don’t know what his bail status is.  I would like to know what his bail 

status is because this is driving under the influence with death. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  It’s a half a million dollars. 

THE COURT:  Pardon? 
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MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Half-million. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  It’s alleged two deaths and a 

substantial. 

THE COURT:  So why is it a status check on a trial setting? 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  We went last Wednesday down on the 

lower lever, after the prelim, and he invoked but they said he was going 

to have to waive.  I guess your first trial setting was August 30th.  So then 

Damian asked -- Mr. Sheets asked to come up here. 

THE CLERK:  August 13th. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  August 13th was the first trial setting. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  He didn’t wanna.  I don’t know. 

THE COURT:  Well, you know what, that’s the sad part of it is, 

we have civil and we have criminal.  And we’re going to have to waive it, 

whether he waives it or not.  I guess you could be ready in a week.  I can 

try the case in a week. 

MR. LIPPMANN:  Given the nature of the case, given that 

there is still outstanding discovery, I’m sure Mr. Sheets would request it 

not be set in a week. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. LIPPMANN:  But by August 13th waiving by one week -- 

THE CLERK:  Three days. 

THE COURT:  Three days. 

MR. LIPPMANN:  Three days, Your Honor. 
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THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. LIPPMANN:  I don’t see an issue with that. 

[Colloquy between the Court and the Clerk] 

  THE CLERK:  So then he’d have to wait 10 days.  If he -- if it -- 

from the date of arraignment. 

  MR. LIPPMANN:  Regardless, the Court can’t accommodate 

within the 60.  So waiving by 10 is what’s needed. 

THE COURT:  All right.  You don’t want to waive by 10 but we 

have civil that we can’t set.  So unless you go in two weeks, you’ve got 

to have it set in August. 

Do you understand? 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.   

THE CLERK:  So that’s August 8th for calendar call; August 

13th for jury trial. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. LIPPMANN:  Thank you. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  I’m sorry, Madam Clerk, what time is 

the jury trial? 

THE CLERK:  8 o’clock for calendar call; 9:30 for trial. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  And give defense all Brady and statutory, 

Giglio discovery. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

Just for the record, we are -- I’ve spoken to the lab they’re 
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testing DNA from the vehicle.  I do have -- I just spoke to Mr. Lippmann.  

I have a video from Dave and Buster’s, but I have to -- I just got it last 

night.  So I’m going to make a copy.   

I also have the coroner’s reports.  Those are being copied 

today.  I’ll get those today. 

And I have a stack of receipts from Casa Del Matador and 

also from Dave and Buster’s.  And a bunch of handwritten statements 

that we had gotten after the preliminary hearing, because people -- this 

was one of the rare cases that went within two weeks of the actual 

event.  

So I told him I didn’t want to give him all this today since I just 

got the video and the corner’s reports.  So I’ll bring that over Thursday or 

Friday. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. LIPPMANN:  That’s fine, Your Honor. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Thank you. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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And the DNA as soon as it’s available. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Thank you. 

 

 [Hearing concluded at 9:29 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
      
  
      _____________________________ 
      Gina Villani 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Monday, July 16, 2018 

 

[Hearing began at 9:13 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  C332496, Henry Ar -- Aparicio. 

  MR. SHEETS:  Aparicio. 

  THE COURT:  Aparicio. 

  It’s your motion. 

  MR. SHEETS:  Yes.  Good morning, Your Honor. 

  With the Court’s permission, I didn’t get the -- the State’s 

response until late week, if we could move this one week for me to do a 

reply.  

  THE COURT:  Yeah, I haven’t -- I haven’t seen the State’s 

response so. 

  MS. EINHORN:  I’ll make sure both parties receive that, Your 

Honor. 

  THE COURT:  I’ve got a copy. 

  MS. EINHORN:  Oh, okay. 

  THE COURT:  I just hadn’t had a chance to read it. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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  MS. EINHORN:  What was the date again? 

  THE CLERK:  July 21st. 

  MR. SHEETS:  Thank you very much, Your Honor. 

 

 

 [Hearing concluded at 9:13 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
      
  
      _____________________________ 
      Gina Villani 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Monday, July 23, 2018 

 

[Hearing began at 9:07 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  C332496, Henry Aparicio. 

  All right.  It’s your motion, Counsel. 

MR. SHEETS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE CLERK:  Can we have appearances. 

MR. SHEETS:  Damian Sheets on behalf of Mr. Aparicio 

who’s present in custody. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Charles Martinovsky for the State, 

7439. 

MR. SHEETS:  Your Honor, we filed our motion, the State filed 

the opposition.  I won’t belabor you.  I think we laid it all out in the 

motion, the opposition. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, the motions are well written.  I reviewed 

the cases that were cited to.   

Does the State want to say anything?  They’re not going to -- 

do you want to submit it? 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  One of the things in the case, I believe it was 

Armstrong 127 Nevada 927 in 2011, that talked about retrograde 

extrapolation.  Not only did they take in the identifiers for this Defendant 

but they took into account -- I mean they have -- they know from 5:30 to 

8:30 what he drank and what he ate because he was at Dave and 

Buster’s.  And I believe it was at that point that Dave -- that the 

Bates 086



 

Page 3 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

bartender at Dave and Buster’s walked him out to his car because he 

was too intoxicated and put him behind the wheel. 

So they know how much he had to drink and eat then.  

Nothing to eat and lots to drink.  Then he went to the restaurant, I 

believe he was the manager of, and they know that he bought six shots 

of tequila and he finished that at about, as I recall, five -- I can’t find my 

notes right now -- but it was five minutes to 9:00.  By 9:08 he had run 

into the back of that Prius.  His blood alcohol content was extremely high 

in retrograde but they knew exactly what he drank, when he drank, and 

how much food.  And at that restaurant, I think he ordered jalapeno 

poppers.  And if he ate all of them, he had not much in his body.   

But he hit that Prius, and I read the police reports on that, and 

it knocked that Prius from zero to 50 miles an hour.  It was stopped at a 

light at Sahara and Hualapai.  And I believe the car -- and it’ll have -- it 

was a newer Mercedes, the red Mercedes, that the black box in the 

newer cars can tell you to the second how fast you were driving when 

that airbag deployed.  And he was doing over a 100 miles an hour, killed 

two people.   

Extrapolation, retrograde extrapolation is extremely 

reasonable in this particular case.  The Defendant’s motion to -- in limine 

to exclude evidence of retrograde extrapolation is denied.  The State will 

prepare a findings of fact, conclusions of law consistent with their 

opposition and this Court’s decision today. 

Thank you. 

MR. SHEETS:  And if I could – and I’m not trying to get Your 
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Honor to change your mind -- just so the record is clear, I think our 

position was that the report didn’t indicate that he had used any of those 

factors that we’re talking about, the time he had drank, what he had 

eaten.  I don’t think the expert’s report -- 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. SHEETS:  -- and that was kind of our biggest thing and it 

didn’t -- 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. SHEETS:  A couple of housekeeping issues though, 

since I’ve got the State here, we did file our petition for a writ, Your 

Honor, consistent with that.  We’re obviously waiving our right to a 

speedy trial.  I was gonna ask if maybe we can go ahead and continue 

the trial now.  And I know Mr. Martinovsky would like to set a specific 

schedule for responding to the writ because he’s gonna be out of the 

jurisdiction as well.  So I wonder if we could just kind of clean that up 

while we’re here.  I don’t know if Your Honor’s -- 

THE COURT:  You filed the writ? 

MR. SHEETS:  We did.  It was filed late -- 

THE COURT:  Challenging what? 

MR. SHEETS:  The probable cause from the preliminary 

hearing. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  It was filed on Friday. 

Mr. SHEETS:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  It was filed on Friday? 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Yes. 
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THE COURT:  How much time do you need to respond? 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  I already -- I mean, I don’t need much 

time.  I just -- I’m not gonna be here next week because I’ll be in Disney.  

So if we could just set -- I don’t know how you want -- and his didn’t have 

a date on it.  His motion didn’t have a -- it hadn’t been calendared yet as 

far as I could see. 

MR. SHEETS:  I don’t -- I don’t know. I was out of the 

jurisdiction on Friday. 

THE COURT:  I haven’t see that so. 

MR. SHEETS:  I’m fine with whatever schedule the State 

wants to be on. 

THE CLERK:  It’s scheduled for hearing on August 6th. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Oh, that’s fine. 

THE COURT:  All right.  We’re gonna argue August 6.  You 

file a response by then, you file a reply by then, we’re going to have the 

argument.  We don’t -- and we can deal with resetting the trial at that 

time. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. SHEETS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thanks. 

 

 [Hearing concluded at 9:12 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
      
  
      _____________________________ 
      Gina Villani 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, August 8, 2018 

 

[Hearing began at 8:47 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  C332496, Henry Aparicio. 

  Are you ready to go to trial? 

MR. SHEETS:  This is argument for writ today, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  No, that was -- you didn’t show up for the 

argument on the writ. 

MR. SHEETS:  So did Your Honor summarily deny the writ 

then at that point? 

THE COURT:  No, I don’t -- I don’t remember if it’s on -- 

[Colloquy between the Court and the Clerk] 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Argue your writ. 

MR. SHEETS:  I had it on for argument and resetting of the 

trial date. 

Your Honor, I can tell Your Honor that for some reason I didn’t 

receive a copy of the State’s response.  I did download it when I got on 

Odyssey on Monday. 

THE COURT:  You must had time because you didn’t show up 

for court. 

MR. SHEETS:  I had five separate district courts on that day 

so. 

THE COURT:  I don’t care.  

MR. SHEET:  So, I mean, I can argue it orally if you want my 

reply Your Honor, or if you want -- 
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THE COURT:  You can argue it. 

MR SHEETS:  Okay.  So after having read the State’s 

response, Your Honor, I do have a couple of brief points that I kind of 

want to address. 

First of all, I think that the State’s response doesn’t properly 

apply Armstrong and it doesn’t properly interpret Armstrong.  And with all 

due respect to Mr. Martinovsky, who I think is a very fine attorney; I just 

think that the picture that he’s painting regarding Armstrong and how it 

applies almost kind of improperly narrows the scope of what Armstrong 

is about.   

If you would believe the State’s response, Armstrong should 

only apply two cases where there are -- there’s only one blood draw.  

And I don’t think that Armstrong at all lays out that proposition.  I think, in 

fact, the crux or the underlying meat of the Armstrong ruling is 

specifically addressing whether or not the physical factors exist that can 

be used to properly extrapolate blood when they don’t have a three 

blood draw extrapolation.  And I think that’s where we’re looking at it 

differently.   

The State would have you think that, oh, because there’s two 

all of a sudden an extrapolation can be done.  That’s not what Armstrong 

is addressing.  Armstrong was addressing the fact that extrapolation is a 

medical science that requires medical, physical data when turning 

around and calculating that extrapolation.  And absent that concrete 

medical data, you do not have what you need for that extrapolation to be 

legally admissible because there are questions as to its reliability and 
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questions as to its authenticity. 

And in this case I think that’s exactly what applies.  The State 

would have the Court believe that the evaluator factored all these things 

in; however, the report that Your Honor has does not factor those things 

in.   

The State would also have you believe that simply because 

there’s a receipt that says drinks were bought that that’s evidence that 

there were receipts -- that was evidence that my client specifically 

engaged in drinks.  But what we’re doing is we’re creating a whole lot of 

assumption. 

So in this particular circumstance as it was presented for the 

preliminary hearing, we have a situation where I believe there’s been an 

improper use of Armstrong.  There’s an improper reliance on Armstrong.  

And in this particular matter, the State’s trying to completely remove 

Armstrong because they know that Armstrong has a direct negative 

impact on their case.  And so if they can try to improperly restrict  

Armstrong to only single blood draw situations, they’re ignoring the 

complete discussion that underlies that entire case talking about the 

physical information that needs to be asked for, that needs to be 

obtained, and needs to be used in the calculation of this extrapolation. 

And in this particular case, he’s talking about using a simple 

linear extrapolation, that’s what his report says.  And it doesn’t factor in 

any of that physical information.  That is exactly why Armstrong applies.  

Because when this is not done, that is not a proper extrapolation.   

Additionally, with regards to the actual physical control, there 
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has -- while Your Honor has heard argument and Your Honor had 

mentioned at the last hearing that I was present at, that my client killed 

two people, I think that for the purposes of preliminary hearing we have 

to look at what was presented to that particular court.  And Your Honor 

was referencing things that were not part of the preliminary hearing at 

that prior hearing.  This writ deals specifically with that.  And what we 

had was every single witness say that they did not see or know who was 

operating the motor vehicle. 

Now, the State, you know, says, oh, he was there; he must 

have been operating the motor vehicle.  Well, they had a witness testify 

who was there.  So how do we know he wasn’t operating the motor 

vehicle?  They had a girl that was there.  For the purposes of preliminary 

hearing, there was no evidence.  In fact, when asked there was no 

statement by any of the witnesses that the person who was in the 

passenger seat of the car couldn’t have been the person in the driver 

seat of that car. 

THE COURT:  Except she was unconscious -- 

MR. SHEETS:  Well, of course she was -- 

THE COURT:  -- when the police got there. 

MR. SHEETS:  That -- that’s -- 

THE COURT:  He was out on the curb crying. 

MR. SHEETS:  He was out on the curb, correct, Your Honor.  

He was being massaged. 

But that doesn’t mean that he was operating that motor 

vehicle.  That’s -- 
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THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. SHEETS:  -- that’s the problem.  When -- even by the 

testimony of the witnesses when officer’s arrived there were -- there 

were a -- quite a -- quite a few people.  There were a ton of people there.  

And, in fact, even the independent witness that comes out says that 

there were a -- quite a few people here. 

Now, the State tried to illicit the term that the witness was 

implying that my client was a suspect, I objected, and that was then 

removed, that qualifier.  So what you have is a guy who responds to the 

scene -- or a lay person who’s on the scene who says, listen, there’s a 

whole bunch of people around, there’s one guy that’s being held by a 

bunch of other people, but he wasn’t in the car and can’t use the term 

suspect, and there were all these other people there and then there was 

a girl in the car.  The girl was unconscious in the car but there was also 

damage to the windshield.  And when specifically -- 

THE COURT:  Where was she sitting in the car? 

MR. SHEETS:  She was in the passenger seat but there was 

also -- 

THE COURT:  Oh. 

MR. SHEETS:  -- a discussion about how she wasn’t a seat -- 

how she wasn’t wearing a seatbelt, Your Honor, and there was damage 

to the windshield.    

THE COURT:  Please. 

MR. SHEETS:  So there’s no evidence that would have 

suggested that she couldn’t have been ejected from that driver’s seat 
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and in the passenger seat. 

The fact of the matter is there was a single person within that 

motor vehicle.  Not one, not one of the officers testified that my client 

admitted to being the operator of the motor vehicle.  Not one of the 

witnesses testified that they saw my client inside that motor vehicle.  So 

what we have is we have to have evidence.  There has to be cognizable 

evidence that my client is in that driver’s seat.  And at that preliminary 

hearing there was no evidence whatsoever presented that puts my client 

in that seat.  The only assumption that we’re making is because he’s 

sitting in proximity to the car he must, he must have been the one that 

was operating or in actual physical control of the motor vehicle. 

The case law is very clear.  You cannot operate on a hunch 

and that’s exactly what they’re doing.  I suspect that he was in the car 

because he was sitting -- because he’s sitting next to the car.  And that’s 

just not enough.  The case law is very clear and the evidence presented 

at the preliminary hearing is what Your Honor has to base your opinion 

on when -- 

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. SHEETS:  -- when having this particular ruling.  And there 

is just not sufficient evidence to do that.  Not one of the witnesses asked 

to directly on cross.  They supposedly, according to one of the 

witnesses, there are these 20 people, 15 to 20 people that are around 

this car, not one of them comes to testify at the preliminary hearing say I 

saw this guy behind the wheel.  In fact, the one guy who gets there     

right -- pretty much right after the accident doesn’t see him behind the 
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wheel either. 

At the preliminary hearing they don’t have any blood on the 

car, they don’t have, you know, they don’t have any DNA on the car, 

they don’t have any DNA on the airbag.  They have none of that 

information. 

THE COURT:  All of your argument is really addressed at a 

jury question. 

MR. SHEETS:  Quite frankly, Your Honor, that’s not a jury 

question, that’s a preliminary hearing question whether sufficient to the 

evidence was provided. 

THE COURT:  Slight even marginal evidence is all that has to 

be shown at a preliminary hearing. 

MR. SHEETS:  Right.  But there has to be slight or marginal 

evidence -- 

THE COURT:  There was. 

MR. SHEETS:  -- sitting next to a car I don’t believe creates 

the  -- 

THE COURT:  Well -- 

MR. SHEETS:  -- slight or marginal evidence. 

THE COURT:  -- I think you’re wrong. 

MR. SHEETS:  Well, you know, because if we base our 

standard on that, Your Honor, then any of the other 10 to 15 people 

there around the car could have also have been charged with the same 

thing based on that standard, Your Honor. 

Based on that, I’d submit. 
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THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Martinovsky? 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Well, Your Honor, as to the Armstrong 

issue, there’s a case right on point, Burcham, which basically says that 

at prelim because the standard is so low the State can admit two 

different blood samples taken an hour apart without calling an expert to 

testify.  That’s black letter law.   

And then as to the identification of the Defendant as the driver, 

obviously it’s slight to marginal.  Mere presence is alone is not enough 

but we have two witnesses testify that he said, did I kill two people?   

We have a detective who testified that we have a girl in the 

passenger seat but she wasn’t just there, her purse was tucked 

underneath the passenger seat with all her identification.  And the 

detective testified no one was in the backseat because of the distribution 

of the glass, the Defendant had injuries on his face consistent with 

having been in a collision.  There was blood on the steering wheel and 

he was expressing concern for the passenger saying, go save her, go 

save her.   

As well as the fact that Brandon McCauley said that he saw a 

crowd of people, and his words from Mr. Sheets’ question, and 

McCauley’s words were there were a crowd of people apprehending 

him. 

THE COURT:  All right. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  So I think that because of the evidence 

it’s slight to marginal and we did present more than just mere presence. 

THE COURT:  Thanks. 
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Based on pleadings and argument, it’s clear, crystal clear to 

the Court that there was slight even marginal evidence that was 

presented at the justice court.  It was crystal clear that the testing of the 

blood was -- would satisfy Armstrong.  Absolutely crystal clear.   

The writ is denied.  The State will prepare a findings of fact, 

conclusions of law consistent with their opposition. 

Now what about the trial date? 

MR. SHEETS:  Your Honor, we’re waiving speedy.  So if we 

can set it in the ordinary course, I’d be looking for something after the 

first of the year, please. 

THE COURT:  Is that what you want to do after -- under the 

circumstances and after discussing the matter fully with your attorney, 

Mr. Aparicio? 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  You’re satisfied that’s in your best 

interest? 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Speedy trials waived, we’ll set it in 

January. 

THE CLERK:  Is it a week? 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  It’s a week. 

THE CLERK:  Okay.  So January 23rd calendar call; January 

28th. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Thank you. 

MR. SHEETS:  And, Madam Clerk, what are the times on 
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those? 

THE CLERK:  8 o’clock and 9:30. 

MR. SHEETS:  Thank you very much, Your Honor. 

MR. MARTINOVSKY:  Thank you. 

 

 [Hearing concluded at 8:58 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
      
  
      _____________________________ 
      Gina Villani 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 

 

Bates 101



Bates 102



Bates 103



Case Number: C-18-332496-1

Electronically Filed
2/26/2019 3:20 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

Bates 104



Bates 105



Bates 106



Bates 107



Bates 108



Bates 109



Bates 110



Bates 111



Bates 112



 

Defendant’s Motion - 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

REQ 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Damian Sheets, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 13825 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 598-1299 
Facsimile: (702) 598-1266 
dsheets@defendingnevada.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
Henry Aparicio 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

State of Nevada, 
            Plaintiff 
 
vs. 
 
Henry Aparicio, 
            Defendant 
  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-18-332496-1 
Dept. No: VIII 
 
REQUEST TO STRIKE AFFIDAVIT IN 
RESPONSE TO DISQUALIFICATION 
                            and 
REQUEST TO STRIKE STATE’S 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR 
DISQUALIFICATION 

 

COMES NOW, Defendant Henry Aparicio, by and through his attorney of record, 

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. of the firm Mayfield Gruber & Sheets, hereby submits this Request 

to Strike Affidavit in Response to Disqualification and Request to Strike State’s Opposition 

to Motion for Disqualification. 

/// 

 

/// 

 

Case Number: C-18-332496-1

Electronically Filed
2/27/2019 4:02 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
 On or about February 6, 2019, Defendant Henry Aparicio filed a Motion for 

Disqualification and Affidavit of Support pursuant to NRS 1.235. The statute sets forth a 

clear procedure for how cases are handled subsequent to filing for disqualification. NRS 

1.235 states, in pertinent part: 

5.  Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6, the judge against 
whom an affidavit alleging bias or prejudice is filed shall proceed no 
further with the matter and shall: 
      (a) If the judge is a district judge, immediately transfer the case to 
another department of the court, if there is more than one department 
of the court in the district, or request the judge of another district court 
to preside at the trial or hearing of the matter; 
      (b) If the judge is a justice of the peace, immediately arrange for 
another justice of the peace to preside at the trial or hearing of the 
matter as provided pursuant to NRS 4.032, 4.340 or 4.345, as 
applicable; or 
      (c) If the judge is a municipal judge, immediately arrange for 
another municipal judge to preside at the trial or hearing of the matter 
as provided pursuant to NRS 5.023 or 5.024, as applicable. 
      6.  A judge may challenge an affidavit alleging bias or prejudice by 
filing a written answer with the clerk of the court within 5 judicial 
days after the affidavit is filed, admitting or denying any or all of the 
allegations contained in the affidavit and setting forth any additional 
facts which bear on the question of the judge’s disqualification. The 
question of the judge’s disqualification must thereupon be heard and 
determined by another judge agreed upon by the parties or, if they are 
unable to agree, by a judge appointed: 
      (a) If the judge is a district judge, by the presiding judge of the 
judicial district in judicial districts having more than one judge, or 
if the presiding judge of the judicial district is sought to be disqualified, 
by the judge having the greatest number of years of service (emphasis 
added) 

 

/// 
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A. Request to Strike Answer to Affidavit in Support of Disqualification 

 
 Pursuant to statute, the challenged judge had 5 judicial days after the affidavit is 

filed to submit a written answer to said affidavit.  In the instant matter, the challenged 

judge did not file his answer until February 21, 2019, over two weeks after the Motion and 

supporting Affidavit were filed. Therefore, the answer submitted by Judge Smith on 

February 21, 2019 must be stricken as untimely.  

 No entities, including the courts, are above the requirements of statutory 

compliance to which all other parties are held. “[W]here the language of an enactment is 

clear and unambiguous, the statute must be held to mean what it clearly expresses, and no 

room is left for construction. There is no safer or better settled canon of interpretation.” 

Hand v. Cook, 29 Nev. 518, 528, 92 P. 3, 4 (1907). With regards to statutory time 

constraints, the law under the Nevada Supreme Court requires strict compliance. 

 Unless a statute setting forth a clear time constraint allows a caveat that would 

accept substantial compliance, such as the one year time limit on a petition for writ of 

habeas corpus which may be extended for good cause shown, statutory time and manner 

restrictions are strictly construed. “Although statutes allowing for a "reasonable time" to 

act are subject to interpretation for substantial  compliance, those with set time limitations 

are not. Our interpretation of the statute's timing requirements and our conclusion that 

those requirements must be complied with strictly is consistent with the general tenet that 
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"time and manner" requirements are strictly construed…” Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 407-

08, 168 P.3d 712, 718 (2007).1  

 In the alternative, were Judge Smith’s Answer to be considered on the merits, the 

Defense would respond briefly as follows (the substantive response to Mr. Aparicio’s 

Motion to Disqualify can be found in paragraphs 6-9 of the Answering Affidavit):  

 Paragraph 6 states the purported legal basis on the Motion in Limine; as Defense 

went into thorough detail on the legal analysis in its original Motion, the same 

points will not be belabored here.  

 Paragraph 7 states that the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied because 

“Defendant raised the same argument unsuccessfully raised in his Motion in 

Limine.” This is factually incorrect. Defendant’s Motion in Limine to Exclude 

Retrograde Extrapolation was based on the expert extrapolation report 

                       

1 The Nevada Supreme Court case Leven v. Frey also sets forth numerous cases from other jurisdictions as 
support for the position that clear time constraints in statutes require strict compliance:  
 
Daugherty v. Dearborn County, 827 N.E.2d 34, 36 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005) (explaining that a statute with a built-in 
180-day time limit for serving notice of a tort claim was subject to strict compliance, even though other 
aspects of the statutory scheme were subject to review for substantial compliance); Schooler v. Iowa Dept. of 
Transp., 576 N.W.2d 604, 607-08 (Iowa 1998) (concluding that failing to serve notice within a statue's thirty-
day time limitation precluded condemnees from appealing an award made in a condemnation proceeding and 
the condemnees' argument that they substantially complied with the notice requirement was unavailing since 
it would require the court to ignore the clear language of the statute); Kirkpatrick v. City of Glendale, 99 
S.W.3d 57, 60 (Mo. Ct. App. 2003) (indicating that giving notice of a tort claim within ninety days, as set forth 
by statute, was a condition precedent to maintaining a tort action, which condition must be complied with 
strictly, while the statute's other requirements, governing the form of notice, were subject to review for 
substantial compliance); Regency Investments v. Inlander Ltd., 2004 PA Super 274, 855 A.2d 75, 79 (Pa. Super. 
Ct. 2004) (concluding that the doctrine of substantial compliance does not apply when the timeliness of 
serving notice is at issue, and thus, the trial court properly struck a mechanics' lien claim since notice of the 
claim was not served until one month after the statutory time period allowed for service); American Standard 
Homes Corp. v. Reinecke, 245 Va. 113, 425 S.E.2d 515, 518, 9 Va. Law Rep. 776 (Va. 1993) (indicating that, 
unless a lien is perfected within the time outlined by statute, it is lost); Marsh-McLennan Bldg., Inc. v. Clapp, 96 
Wn. App. 636, 980 P.2d 311, 313 n.1 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999) (explaining that an unlawful detainer statute's 
time requirements for filing a notice must be complied with strictly, while substantial compliance with the 
statute's requirements regarding the form and content of the notice was sufficient).  
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subsequently provided to the Defense after the State filed its Notice of Expert 

Witness; the Motion alleged that the extrapolation report did not comply with the 

requirements of Armstrong. The Writ Petition, on the other hand, challenged the 

Justice Court’s introduction of the raw blood results, taken outside of two hours, at 

the preliminary hearing (as the blood was used as a basis for a finding of probable 

cause). The two challenges are distinct, as one relates to the improper introduction 

of blood results outside of two hours without extrapolation, and the other 

challenges the subsequent extrapolation results which are improperly calculated. 

The Court’s Answer further cites to unspecified slight or marginal evidence as 

grounds in support of its ruling; however, the Court relied on the same basis the 

State subsequently conceded was insufficient (that Mr. Aparicio was found outside 

the vehicle as slight or marginal evidence that he was driving). While the State made 

subsequent arguments in support of their position, it is the Court’s decision at the 

time it was made that is the source of Mr. Aparicio’s instant challenge. The 

Answering Affidavit further fails to state what slight or marginal evidence was relied 

upon in rendering the decision to deny relief. 

 Paragraph 8 states that Mr. Aparicio’s request for investigative fees was denied 

“based on the totality of the circumstances.” The circumstances are relatively 

minimal: the State’s retrograde extrapolation expert was allowed (over Defense 

objection), Mr. Aparicio sought a rebuttal expert, Mr. Aparicio provided detailed 

financial affidavits of his inability to independently retain an expert (which the 

Court accepted), Mr. Aparicio had a negative monthly debt-to-income ratio, and the 
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Court denied him investigative fees due to an “insufficient showing of indigency.” 

There are no other circumstances which exist to create a “totality” that would justify 

the Court’s ruling.    

 Paragraph 9 claims that the Court’s statements that Mr. Aparicio killed two people 

(among others) do not show bias because they “were not made before jurors, were 

not made to establish judicially noticed facts or laws of the case, and are not 

dispositive of the outcome in this case.” However, this is also incorrect; the Court’s 

statements were dispositive of the outcome in this case because they were given as 

the basis for its ruling to deny relief on a retrograde extrapolation issue. The 

statements were not made in a probable cause challenge hearing, or under other 

circumstances which permit the Court to accept them as true for the purpose of 

granting or denying relief. Instead, the Court took these factual statements as true to 

form a basis to permit retrograde extrapolation evidence. These statements 

communicated the Court’s basis to deny relief on an issue that was completely 

unrelated to the underlying facts of the case (whether or not the retrograde 

extrapolation satisfied Armstrong). Therefore, as the Court’s statements were used 

as the basis to deny relief on an issue independent of the facts of the case, it most 

certainly was dispositive of the outcome and has a very significant effect on the 

remainder of Mr. Aparicio’s criminal proceedings.  

 
/// 
 
 
 
/// 
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B. Request to Strike State’s Opposition to Motion for Disqualification 

 
There is no authority which grants the State standing to oppose a disqualification 

request. The statute, as cited above, is unambiguous that the challenged judge may file an 

answer, not the State of Nevada (or any party to the underlying proceedings). As the statute 

is clear as to who may file a response, it may not be expanded to permit another entity such 

a right that does not exist. “This court has, for more than a century, recognized that the 

Legislature's ‘mention of one thing or person is in law an exclusion of all other things or 

persons.’” Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 902, 102 P.3d 71, 87 (2004) (citing V. & T. R.R. Co. v. 

Elliott, 5 Nev. 358, 364 (1870)).  

Additionally, the State’s Opposition would only exacerbate the most natural 

consequence of the filing: although the State and the Court are separate entities, for the 

State to defend the Court’s conduct defies the required impartiality between them. A 

request for disqualification is a procedural mechanism exclusively between the moving 

party and the challenged judge; the State has no standing to defend the challenged judge, or 

else it creates a substantial appearance of impropriety. The State’s Opposition creates a 

situation where the State of Nevada is acting as the representative of the tribunal, without 

any entitlement to do so, and thereby also creates a conflict of interest. The Court is capable 

of representing itself though whatever means it avails when challenged for bias, and the 

State is not a party to these proceedings.  

/// 

 

/// 
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Therefore, because the State of Nevada is not a party to disqualification proceedings 

between the moving party and the challenged judge, the Defense requests the State’s 

Opposition be treated as a fugitive document and stricken from the record.   

 
DATED this 27 day of February, 2019. 

By: 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
       

By: __/s/ Damian Sheets___ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 27 day of February, 2019 I served a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing Request to Strike, upon the following, by serving them personally or 

by leaving it at chambers with a person of suitable age and discretion employed therein. 

 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 8, Hon. Judge Smith 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 7, Hon. Judge Bell 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 30, Hon. Judge Wiese 

 
     ____/s/ Kelsey Bernstein___________  
     An Employee of Mayfield Gruber & Sheets 
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-18-332496-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor March 19, 2019COURT MINUTES

C-18-332496-1 State of Nevada
vs
Henry Aparicio

March 19, 2019 09:00 AM Motion to Recuse

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Bell, Linda Marie

Estala, Kimberly

RJC Courtroom 17A

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Defendant not present. 

Argument by Counsel. COURT ORDERED, matter UNDER ADVISEMENT.

CUSTODY

PARTIES PRESENT:
Charles Martinovsky Attorney for Plaintiff

Damian R. Sheets Attorney for Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

RECORDER: Vincent, Renee
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MOT 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Damian Sheets, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 13825 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 598-1299 
Facsimile: (702) 598-1266 
dsheets@defendingnevada.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
Henry Aparicio 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

State of Nevada, 
            Plaintiff 
 
vs. 
 
Henry Aparicio, 
            Defendant 
  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-18-332496-1 
Dept. No: VIII 
 
MOTION TO RECONSIDER DECISION AND 
ORDER FILED APRIL 5, 2019 

 

COMES NOW, Defendant Henry Aparicio, by and through his attorney of record, 

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. of the firm Mayfield Gruber & Sheets, hereby submits this Motion to 

Reconsider Decision and Order filed April 5, 2019. 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 
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NOTICE OF HEARING 
 
TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 
 
TO: DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY: 
 
YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the 

above and foregoing motion on for hearing on the _____ day of _______________________, 2019, at 

the hour of ______, before the above-entitled Court, or as soon thereafter as counsel can be 

heard. 

 
 
 
DATED this 5 day of April, 2019. 
 
 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
 
___/s/ Damian Sheets_____ 
DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. 
Attorney for Defendant 
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 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
 Defendant Henry Aparicio is charged with Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol 

Resulting in Death, as well as a litany of similar lesser included offenses. He pled Not Guilty 

to the charges on or about June 6, 2018 and invoked his right to a speedy trial. Calendar 

Call is currently scheduled for August 8, 2018, with trial on August 13, 2018.  

 Mr. Aparicio filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Douglas Smith based on bias 

exhibited on the record and in pleadings. Subsequent to filing the Motion, Judge Smith 

announced an early retirement date of April 12, 2019. Based on this announcement, the 

Decision and Order filed on April 5, 2019 regarding the Motion to Disqualify was denied as 

moot because Mr. Aparicio will have a different judge for the next hearing.  

 However, the issue of bias in the pleadings still needs to be addressed, as Mr. 

Aparicio alleged that bias by Judge Smith manifested in several adverse rulings that worked 

to Mr. Aparicio’s extreme detriment. Such rulings include Motions in Limine, a pre-trial 

Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, and a request for investigative fees, all of which were 

alleged to have been tainted with bias. Each of these rulings also has a substantial impact 

on the direction, outcome and strategy of this case. Therefore, a formal decision on bias is 

necessary to the extent that Mr. Aparicio would be entitled to have his pleadings re-heard 

before a neutral magistrate.  

/// 

 

/// 

Bates 130



 

Defendant’s Motion - 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

For these reasons, Mr. Aparicio respectfully requests the Chief Judge reconsider the 

Decision and Order that denies the Motion as moot only insofar as it bears on Mr. Aparicio’s 

ability to have his pleadings fully and fairly litigated before a new judge. 

 
DATED this 5 day of April, 2019. 

By: 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
       

By: __/s/ Damian Sheets___ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 5 day of April, 2019 I served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider, upon each of the parties by electronic 

service through Wiznet, the Eighth Judicial District Court’s e-filing/e-service system, 

pursuant to N.E.F.C.R.9; and by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in the 

United States mail, Postage Pre-Paid, addressed as follows: 

 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office  
200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89155 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 
 
Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 8, Hon. Judge Smith 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Department 7, Hon. Judge Bell 

 

     /s/___Kelsey Bernstein_________                                                   
     An Employee of Mayfield Gruber & Sheets 
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MOT 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Damian Sheets, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 13825 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 598-1299 
Facsimile: (702) 598-1266 
dsheets@defendingnevada.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
Henry Aparicio 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

State of Nevada, 
            Plaintiff 
 
vs. 
 
Henry Aparicio, 
            Defendant 
  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-18-332496-1 
Dept. No: VIII 
 
MOTION TO CONTINUE TRIAL 
 
Hearing Requested 

 

COMES NOW, Defendant Henry Aparicio, by and through his attorney of record, 

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. of the firm Mayfield Gruber & Sheets, hereby submits this 

Defendant’s Motion to Continue Trial. 

This Motion is made and based upon the Points and Authorities attached hereto and 

any arguments deemed necessary by this Honorable Court, and further is brought in good 

faith and not for the purpose of delay. 

/// 

 

/// 

Case Number: C-18-332496-1

Electronically Filed
7/24/2019 6:57 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: State of Nevada, Plaintiff; 

TO: Clark County District, Attorney for Plaintiff. 

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the 

foregoing Motion on for hearing before this court, on the _____ day of ___________________, 

2019, at the hour of _____:_____ ___.m., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard. 

 

DATED this 24 day of July, 2019 
 

MAYFIELD, GRUBER & SHEETS 
 
 
BY    /s/ Damian Sheets__ 
DAMIAN R. SHEETS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd., Suite 211 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 598-1299 
Attorney for Defendant 
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 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
 The Defendant in this matter, Henry Aparicio, is charged with Driving Under the 

Influence Resulting in Death and other similar lesser-included offenses. Calendar call is 

currently scheduled for July 31, 2019 with jury trial set to begin on August 5, 2019. 

 Previous requests to continue this matter have been filed to permit Mr. Aparicio to 

secure a rebuttal expert to the State’s disclosed retrograde extrapolation expert; however, 

given his custody status and the Court’s prior denial of his request for investigative fees, 

neither Mr. Aparicio nor his family have the financial ability to secure an expert witness. As 

a result, his Counsel’s ability to defend him in this case has been directly impaired by Judge 

Smith’s ruling denying him said fees, compounded by Chief Judge Bell’s ruling that the issue 

of bias was moot after Judge Smith announced his retirement. Under the circumstances, 

Counsel’s desire and ability to properly represent Mr. Aparicio has been rendered 

ineffective.  

 The unfortunate circumstances surrounding this case have prompted Mr. Aparicio 

to file a Motion with this Court requesting an opportunity to readdress the previous rulings 

by Judge Smith in this case under its overarching constitutional authority. Specifically, the 

Motion requests the matters be readdressed to comport with fundamental Due Process 

considerations which Mr. Aparicio has, to this point in time, been entirely denied.  

 Additionally, in the most recent Notice of Witness list filed by the State, the State 

lists no less than fifty-five individual witnesses; given Judge Smith’s decision to deny Mr. 

Aparicio any financial assistance with his case whatsoever, Mr. Aparicio has similarly been 

unable to secure an investigator to thoroughly interview and/or assess the anticipated 
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testimony of the numerous witnesses contained in the State’s list. Furthermore, given that 

roughly ten lay witnesses testified in the preliminary hearing, and yet not a single one could 

put Mr. Aparicio behind the wheel of a vehicle, the ability to anticipate and prepare an 

adequate defense to these witness’s testimony, including for purposes of impeachment, 

becomes vital. In this manner, Judge Smith’s ruling has also directly impacted and limited 

Counsel’s ability to properly represent him or prepare a defensive strategy to this case.  

 These issues are precisely why Mr. Aparicio has filed the request to readdress the 

prior rulings made by Judge Smith. If that request is denied, further emergency relief will 

likely be sought with the appellate courts. The simple fact is that, if the trial were to 

proceed, Mr. Aparicio would be forced to go to trial with a very limited and arguably 

judicially-created ineffective defense, with his hands proverbially tied behind his back. 

This Motion to Continue Trial is made pursuant to the Court’s authority to grant a 

continuance for good cause as set forth in Benson v. Benson, 66 Nev. 94, 99, 204 P.2d 316, 

318–19 (1949) and Higgs v. State, 126 Nev. 1, 9, 222 P.3d 648, 653 (2010). 

 
DATED this 24 day of July, 2019. 

By: 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
       

By: __/s/ Damian Sheets___ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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AFFIDAVIT OF DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 
TO CONTINUE TRIAL DATE 

 
STATE OF NEVADA ) 
    ) ss: 
COUNTY OF CLARK ) 
 
I, Damian Sheets, Esq., being first duly sworn, depose and say: 
 

1. That your affiant is an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada 

with offices located at 726 S. Casino Center Blvd., Las Vegas, Nevada; 

2. That I am the attorney of record for the Defendant in the above-referenced matter 

and have personal knowledge of the facts contained herein; 

3. That this Motion is brought in good faith and not for the purposes of delay; 

4. That Counsel needs additional time to prepare an adequate defense in this case; 

5. That Counsel needs additional time to conduct further investigation in this case, 

including the employment and preparation of expert witnesses and private 

investigators; 

6. That Counsel needs additional time to pursue relief to find the Defendant is indigent 

and is entitled to financial assistance in preparation of his defense;  

7. That the Defendant has previously waived his statutory right to a speedy trial within 

60 days; 

8. That the Defendant has been made aware of Counsel’s intent to continue the trial 

date in the instant case.  

 
 FURTHER YOUR AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT. 
 

DATED this 24th day of July, 2019 
 
      BY: __/s/ Damian Sheets_________ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 24 day of July, 2019 I served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing Defendant’s Motion to Continue Trial, upon each of the parties by 

electronic service through Wiznet, the Eighth Judicial District Court’s e-filing/e-service 

system, pursuant to N.E.F.C.R.9; and by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope 

in the United States mail, Postage Pre-Paid, addressed as follows: 

 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office  
200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89155 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

 

 

     /s/___Kelsey Bernstein_________                                                   
     An Employee of Mayfield Gruber & Sheets 
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MOT 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Damian Sheets, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 10755 
Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 13825 
726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 598-1299 
Facsimile: (702) 598-1266 
dsheets@defendingnevada.com 
Attorney for Defendant 
Henry Aparicio 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

State of Nevada, 
            Plaintiff 
 
vs. 
 
Henry Aparicio, 
            Defendant 
  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-18-332496-1 
Dept. No: VIII 
 
MOTION TO REHEAR MOTION IN LIMINE 
AND REQUEST FOR INVESTIGATIVE FEES 
 
Hearing Requested 

 

COMES NOW, Defendant Henry Aparicio, by and through his attorney of record, 

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. of the firm Mayfield Gruber & Sheets, hereby submits this Motion to 

Rehear and Reconsider Motions in Limine and Request for Investigative Fees. 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

Case Number: C-18-332496-1

Electronically Filed
7/24/2019 6:56 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF HEARING 
 
TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 
 
TO: DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY: 
 
YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the 

above and foregoing motion on for hearing on the _____ day of _______________________, 2019, at 

the hour of ______, before the above-entitled Court, or as soon thereafter as counsel can be 

heard. 

 
 
 
DATED this 24 day of July, 2019. 
 
 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
 
___/s/ Damian Sheets_____ 
DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. 
Attorney for Defendant 
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 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
 Defendant Henry Aparicio is charged with Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol 

Resulting in Death, along with similar lesser included offenses. Calendar Call is currently 

scheduled for July 31, 2019, with trial on August 5, 2019. A Motion to Continue is being 

filed concurrently herewith.  

 Mr. Aparicio filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Douglas Smith based on bias 

exhibited on the record and in pleadings. Oral argument on the Motion was heard before 

the Honorable Chief Judge Bell, but Judge Bell withheld decision on the matter until after 

Judge Smith announced an early retirement date of April 12, 2019. Based on this 

announcement, Judge Bell declared the Motion was moot in a Decision and Order filed on 

April 5, 2019. The Court found the bias issue was moot because Mr. Aparicio will have a 

different judge for the next hearing.  

 Counsel for Mr. Aparicio filed a Motion to Reconsider the Decision because the bias, 

if it did exist, would have infected the entirety of the proceedings, including numerous 

evidentiary rulings that have a substantial bearing on the direction and strategy of this 

case. For example, Judge Smith granted, without limitation, the State’s ability to introduce 

blood alcohol content taken outside of the two hours that arguably does not comply with 

Nevada case law and is based on a purported retrograde extrapolation formula used in the  

1990s. When Mr. Aparicio requested financial assistance to obtain a rebuttal expert, 

despite showing a negative income to debt ratio, Judge Smith denied Mr. Aparicio’s request 

based on “an insufficient showing of indigency.” Judge Smith effectively permitted the State 
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to admit evidence carte blanche, and then subsequently prevented Mr. Aparicio from 

rebutting that evidence in any meaningful way.  

 However, at the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider filed before Judge Bell, she 

declined to alter the ruling that the issue of bias was moot, and further ruled that she 

lacked jurisdiction to order the rehearing or reconsideration of previously ruled upon 

motions. While the Chief Judge believes she may not have the jurisdiction to order the 

Court to rehear the previously filed Motions, as the trial Court, this Court can grant such 

relief under its overarching constitutional authority. 

 The right to a neutral and fair magistrate is rooted in the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment. “[A defendant] is entitled to a neutral and detached judge in the 

first instance.” Matter of Ross, 99 Nev. 1, 13, 656 P.2d 832, 839 (1983); see also, Ward v. Vill. 

Of Monroeville, Ohio, 409 U.S. 57, 59, 93 S.Ct. 80, 82 (1972). “It is axiomatic that [a] fair trial 

in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.” Caperton v. A. T. Massey Coal Co., 

556 U.S. 868, 876, 129 S. Ct. 2252, 2259 (2009). “A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic 

requirement of dueprocess. Fairness of course requires an absence of actual bias in the trial 

of cases.” In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136, 75 S. Ct. 623, 625 (1955). 

 Additionally, the Court has the inherent power to correct errors of constitutional 

magnitude. “The power of this court to address plain error or issues of constitutional 

dimension sua sponte is well established.” Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 882, 34 P.3d 

519, 533-34 (2001); Emmons v.  State, 107 Nev. 53, 60-61, 807 P.2d 718, 723 (1991); see 

also Edwards v. State, 107 Nev. 150, 153 n.4, 808 P.2d 528, 530 n.4 (1991). “When 

the constitution commands how a right may be exercised, it prohibits the exercise of that 
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right in some other way. If exercised at all it must be exercised as commanded by 

the constitution. ‘A state constitution is also binding on the courts of the state, and on every 

officer and every citizen. Any attempt to do that which is prescribed in any other manner 

than that prescribed, or to do that which is prohibited, is repugnant to that supreme and 

paramount law, and invalid.’” Porch v. Patterson, 39 Nev. 251, 269, 156 P. 439, 445 (1916). 

 Given the constitutional magnitude of the issues presented, the Trial Court has the 

inherent jurisdiction to correct any such constitutional flaw. Although the Chief Judge 

declined to rule one way or the other with regards to bias, there is little doubt that this 

Court has the power to rehear motions if the prior rulings do not comply with the 

requirements of Due Process. In this case, there is at least one major, glaring example of 

how the prior Judge denied Mr. Aparicio Due Process: After permitting the State to 

introduce expert testimony of retrograde extrapolation, the Judge denied Mr. Aparicio’s 

request for financial assistance to obtain a rebuttal expert despite the Judge’s 

acknowledgement of Mr. Aparicio’s negative debt-to-income ratio. Mr. Aparicio has been 

denied any ability to rebut evidence presented by the State which, at face value, is wholly 

rebuttable and central to the State’s case. There is little question that Mr. Aparicio’s 

financial inability to secure a rebuttal expert will have a significant impact on the 

proceedings and outcome of this trial; Mr. Aparicio should not have to endure an inherently 

unconstitutional trial or conviction in order to raise the matter on appeal when this Court 

has the inherent power to correct the errors that are present immediately before it.  
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 Therefore, as part of its constitutional authority and obligation, Mr. Aparicio 

respectfully requests this Court rehear the previously filed Motion in Limine and Request 

for Investigative Fees anew.  

 
DATED this 24 day of July, 2019. 

By: 
MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS 
       

By: __/s/ Damian Sheets___ 
       Damian Sheets, Esq. 
       Nevada Bar No. 10755 
       726 S. Casino Center Blvd. 
       Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 24 day of July, 2019 I served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider, upon each of the parties by electronic 

service through Wiznet, the Eighth Judicial District Court’s e-filing/e-service system, 

pursuant to N.E.F.C.R.9; and by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in the 

United States mail, Postage Pre-Paid, addressed as follows: 

 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office  
200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89155 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

 

     /s/___Kelsey Bernstein_________                                                   
     An Employee of Mayfield Gruber & Sheets 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-18-332496-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor July 31, 2019COURT MINUTES

C-18-332496-1 State of Nevada
vs
Henry Aparicio

July 31, 2019 08:30 AM Calendar Call

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Silva, Cristina D.

Emmons, Shannon

RJC Courtroom 11B

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Arguments by Mr. Sheets regarding the case history with Judge Smith.  State announced 
ready and advised this trial will last ten (10) days with at least thirty (30) witnesses.  Mr. Sheets 
argued he will be ineffective if the trial moves forward as scheduled as he has another trial at 
the same time.  Colloquy regarding subpoena returns.  CONFERENCE AT BENCH. COURT 
ORDERED, matter SET for status check.

CUSTODY

08/01/2019 9:00 AM STATUS CHECK: TRIAL READINESS

PARTIES PRESENT:
Charles Martinovsky Attorney for Plaintiff

Damian R. Sheets Attorney for Defendant

Henry Aparicio Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

RECORDER: Villani, Gina

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 8/4/2019 July 31, 2019Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Shannon Emmons Bates 145



Bates 146



Bates 147



Bates 148



Bates 149



Bates 150



Bates 151



Bates 152



Bates 153



Bates 154



Bates 155



Bates 156



Bates 157



Bates 158



Bates 159



Bates 160



Bates 161



Bates 162



Bates 163



Bates 164



Bates 165



Bates 166



Bates 167



Bates 168



Bates 169



Bates 170



Bates 171



Bates 172



Bates 173



Bates 174



Bates 175


	18-07-05 Mtn Exclude Evidence Retrograde Extrapolation.pdf (p.4-9)
	18-07-11 State's Response Mtn Exclude Retrograde Extrapolation.pdf (p.10-21)
	18-07-20 Petition for Writ of HC.pdf (p.22-46)
	18-07-23 Minutes, Mtn Exclude Retrograde Extrapolation.pdf (p.47-48)
	18-07-24 State's Return Petition for Writ of HC.pdf (p.49-58)
	19-02-06 Mtn Disqualify Smith.pdf (p.59-103)
	19-02-26 State's Opp Mtn Disqualify Judge.pdf (p.104-112)
	19-02-27 Mtn Strike State's Opp.pdf (p.113-120)
	19-03-19 Minutes, Mtn to Disqualify.pdf (p.121)
	19-04-05 Decision and Order Mtn to Disqualify.pdf (p.122-127)
	19-04-05 Mtn Reconsider Decision and Order.pdf (p.128-131)
	19-04-15 Minutes, Mtn to Reconsider.pdf (p.132)
	19-07-24 Mtn Continue Trial.pdf (p.133-138)
	19-07-24 Mtn Rehear Mtn in Limine and Investigative Fees.pdf (p.139-144)
	19-07-31 Minutes, Calendar Call.pdf (p.145)
	19-08-01 GPA.pdf (p.146-156)
	19-10-11 Aparicio Victim Impact Letters.pdf (p.157-257)

